IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEPHEN POWELL

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-KA-01414

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal From The Circuit Court Of Panola County, Mississippi

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JOSHUA A. TURNER (MB

Post Office Box 2448 Oxford, Mississippi Tel: 662-236-2406

Fax: 662-236-2407

Email: josh@joshturnerlaw.com

Attorney for the Appellant Stephen Powell

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEPHEN POWELL

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-KA-01414

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Trial Court Erred By Failing To Give The *Sharplin* Instruction To The Jury After It Announced It Was Deadlocked
- II. The Trial Court Erred By Denying the Defendant's Motion for a Mistrial After The Jury Returned For The Second Time With the Jurors Spilt Ten to Two.
- III. Conclusion

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the onset, this case appears to be one of first impression with Mississippi Appellate Courts. The Appellant asserts two points of error for this Court and both stem from problems with the jury after the State and defense rested.

The trial court erred by failing to give the jury the *Sharplin* instruction after it announced that the jury was deadlocked. The Court polled the jury and asked if further deliberations would be helpful. Nine jurors said "yes" and three jurors said "no." The Court required the jury to return without giving the *Sharplin* instruction and without just saying "please continue with your deliberations." After the jury returned to deliberate a second time it announced that the jury had a verdict. When the jury was polled, two jurors told Judge Baker that they did not agree with the verdict. Judge Baker announced what occurred to be a "misread" and sent the jury to continue deliberations without giving the *Sharplin* instruction again. (Trial Tr. p. 377).

Secondly, the trial court erred by failing to grant a mistrial when the defense moved for one, after the jury was polled and two jurors announced that they did not agree with the verdict. Sending the jury back this third time was suggestive and prejudicial to Mr. Powell.

The Appellant asserts that he is entitled to a reversal of his charges and that this Court should remand the case for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Stephen Powell and Candace McKenzie were indicted in the First Judicial District of Panola County, Mississippi on two counts each. Both were indicted for conspiracy to commit sexual battery and sexual battery. The allegations involved Candace McKenzie's biological child, who will be referred to as "B.M." throughout this brief.

On June 8, 2009 the trial of both Mr. Powell and Ms. McKenzie commenced. The prosecution called "B.M." to the stand, as well as several other witnesses. It was clear upon cross- examination that "B.M." could not remember anything at all about the incidents that were charged in the indictment. Several other witnesses were called in an attempt to corroborate B.M.'s testimony.

Additionally, both Stephen Powell and Candace McKenzie testified in their defense that none of the allegations, made by "B.M.", were true and that they were indeed innocent. The jury after hearing testimony from both the prosecution and testimony from the defense, retired to deliberate.

Notably, this case contains a very clean record until the jury retired to deliberate at the close of the case. Undoubtedly, due to the experience of the very

learned trial judge and the professionalism of both the prosecution and the defense attorney involved, the record is very thorough.

In order to better understand the transcript that is quoted herein, the rolls of the following individuals were as follows: Trial Court Judge: Hon. Andrew Baker; Assistant District Attorney: Jay Hale; Defense Attorney: Helen Kelly; Circuit Clerk: Joe Reid.

Jury deliberations began at 2:10 P.M. on June 10, 2009. (Trial Tr. p. 370). The trial judge took a recess at 4:45 on June 10, 2009. (Trial Tr. p. 320). The jury reconvened on the next morning June 11, 2009. After some deliberation, the jury sent a note to the trial judge that stated that they were unable to reach a unanimous verdict. (Trial Tr. p. 371). After receiving the note, the trial court brought the jury into the jury box and questioned them individually about whether additional deliberation would be helpful. (Trial Tr. p. 371-374). Nine jurors said that additional deliberation would be helpful and three said that additional deliberation would not be helpful. (Trial Tr. pp. 374).

The jury then retired to the jury room for further deliberation. After further deliberation, the jury sent a note to the trial judge indicating that it had reached a verdict. The exchange went as follows:

Judge Baker:

Okay. I received your note here. And let me just ask you a question and you respond directly to the question that I ask you. Has the jury reached a verdict in the case?

Juror Johnson:

Yes, sir, we have.

Judge Baker:

Would you hand it to the court clerk and he'll it to me for

review.

(THE COURT REVIEWS VERDICT)

Judge Baker:

Mr. Clerk, would you read the verdict of the jury in open

court?

Mr. Reid:

In Count 1, we the Jury find Defendant Candace McKenzie

guilty. In Count 2, we the Jury find the Defendant Candace

McKenzie guilty. In Count 1, we the Jury find the

Defendant Steve Powell guilty. In Count 2, we the Jury

find the Defendant Steve Powell guilty.

Judge Baker:

Do I hear any request of counsel?

Ms. Kelly:

Yes, Your Honor. We ask that the jury be polled.

Judge Baker:

Okay. I will ask each of you individually if this represents your individual decision. Ms. Rosa Johnson, does that represent your decision as to each count and each of the

parties?

Juror Johnson:

Yes, sir.

Judge Baker:

Mr. Wesley, is that your decision as to each count in each

party?

Juror Wesley:

Yes.

Judge Baker:

And Ms. Harris, does that represent your decision as to each

count and each party?

Juror Shalanda Harris:

No, it does not, no.

Judge Baker:

Ms. Bobo, does that represent your decision to each count

and each party?

Juror Bobo:

(Shakes head).

Judge Baker:

Does not. James Harris, does that represent your decision as

to each count and each party?

Juror Harris:

Yes, Judge.

Judge Baker:

Marchello Stokes, does that your represent your decision as

to each count and each party?

Juror Stokes:

Yes, sir.

Judge Baker:

Okay. Stephanie Jones, does that represent your decision as

to each count and each party?

Juror Jones:

Yes, Your Honor.

Judge Baker:

Jessie Logan, your decision as to each count and each party?

Juror Logan:

Yes, sir.

Judge Baker:

Lois J. Ross, does that your represent you're decision to

each count and each party?

Juror Ross:

Yes, sir.

Judge Baker:

Ms. Bain, Mary B. Bain, does that represent your decision as

to each count and each party?

Juror Bain:

Yes, Your Honor.

Judge Baker:

Carl Hubbard, does that represent your decision as to each

count and each party?

Juror Hubbard:

Yes, Judge.

Judge Baker:

All right. Mr. Mack A. Willey, does that represent your

decision to each count and each party?

Juror Willey:

Yes, sir.

Judge Baker:

All right. Ladies and gentlemen, what I have here, I want to ask the jury to go back into the jury room. I'm getting a misread here. When you tell me we are ready to report, that indicates to me that is a unanimous decision; but as I poll the jury individually, it seems to be a ten-to-two decision. I'm not suggesting anyone change their mind or anything, but I just want your to go back and reconvene and I have got to know whether it's a split decision or whether it's a unanimous decision. I just want you all to go back there and huddle up and send me another note when you are ready to come back out, and I'll do the same thing again and see if the results are the same.

Mr. Hale:

Your Honor, may we approach for a second?

Judge Baker:

Yes.

(A BENCH CONFERENCE WAS HELD)

Judge Baker:

Well, take them back in and let them talk this over among themselves because I'm getting a misread here. I don't know if they intended to have a unanimous verdict or whether it's still split.

(THE JURY IS DISMISSED)

Judge Baker:

Several years ago this happened to me in a trial in Batesville where I received a note from a jury that indicated a verdict had been reached. I brought the jury into the courtroom here and I polled the jury and it was not what the note indicated. At that time I mistried the case. Within two weeks after that decision, a decision of me, a decision came down from the State Supreme Court that ordered trial judges that when you

get a misreading like this, to give the jury a chance to clarify their findings. I can't call the name of the case right now, but as far as I know, its still good case law in the State of Mississippi that you give the jury a chance. Ms. Kelly, you indicated you'd like to make a motion for the record at this time?

Ms. Kelly:

Yes, Your Honor. It comes now the Defendant Stephen Powell and Candace McKenzie and ask the Court to declare a mistrial. It is obvious that this jury has had ample time to deliberate this matter and that have sent two notes out saying that they were split nine to three, and when the last note came out, it was indicated that they had reached a verdict when they in fact had not. There are ten yeses and two nos, and, Your Honor, I feel that it would be prejudicial to my clients to force the jury to further deliberate since they have had ample time and obviously these two people have stood their ground so far, and at this time we would respectfully request a mistrial be declared.

Mr. Hale:

Your Honor, I don't think we are forcing them to deliberate. It appears that they came out with a verdict read in open court. The did not - -two jurors said that that was not their full decision. We are dealing with multiple counts here, multiple defendants here. I think the jurors need to be given time to clarify their decision, and if they are still locked up, the Court will have to take that under advisement at the proper time.

Judge Baker:

I think I am following the proper procedure. As I said, it has happened with me before, its happened in other courts before and its gone to the appellate courts, and without having the benefit of the citation of the case, our Supreme Court did direct that when a situation like this occurs at the trial level, to give the jury a chance to clarify their verdict so the Court can determine whether or not they have a verdict or if they do not have a verdict.

(PAUSE IN PROCEEDINGS)

Judge Baker:

Let the record reflect at this point in time the jury has, including today being the 11th, and yesterday on June the 10th, the jury has been in total deliberation time about three hours and 15 minutes.

Kathy, let the record reflect I have received another note from the baliff that reads, "We have reached a final verdict." Would you bring the jury in and put them in the jury box?

(Trial Tr. pp. 374-380) (emphasis supplied)

The jury returned at this time and found both defendants guilty on both counts charged in the indictment. (Trial Tr. pp. 384).

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred By Failing To Give The Sharplin Instruction

Not once after the polling for verdicts by individual jurors, did the judge ask if more time was needed; at no time did the trial judge read the *Sharplin* jury instruction and at no time did he use words "please continue with your deliberations."

This Court has acknowledged that "[i]t is within the sound discretion of the trial judge as to how long he will keep the jury in deliberation, and this discretion will not be reviewed on appeal unless there has been a clear abuse of discretion." Dixon v. State, 306 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss.1975) (quoting Gordon v. State, 149 So.2d 475, 477 (Miss.1963)). "The object of the jury system is to secure a verdict by a comparison of views and by agreements among the jurors themselves. Although the verdict of the jury should represent the opinion of each individual juror, it does not follow that opinions of jurors may not be changed by conference with each other in the jury room."

Sharplin v. State, 330 So.2d 591, 596 (Miss.1976). Consequently, if the trial judge feels that there is a possibility that the jury might reach a verdict, he may return the jury for further deliberations by simply stating to the jury to please continue its deliberations or he may give the instruction that was given in the case sub judice. Sharplin, 330 So.2d at 596.

Greenlee v. State, 725 So.2d 816, 824 (Miss. 1998).

Judge Baker abused his discretion and caused the jury to be confused by failing to give the *Sharplin* instruction. Presumably when one continues to send a jury to deliberate three times, jurors are influenced to change their vote; something they were instructed to never do. (See R. p. 19, Court's Jury Instruction 6).

All the authorities hold that, if they (the jurors) were exposed to improper influences, which might have produced the verdict, the presumption of law is against its purity; and testimony will not be heard to rebut this presumption. It is a conclusive presumption.

Edlin v. State, 523 So.2d 42, 45 (Miss. 1988) quoting Collins v. State, 54 So. 665 (Miss. 1911) (emphasis supplied).

In the present case, the jurors were exposed to the suggestive nature of a trial judge, who made them continue deliberating not once, not twice but three times. The jury first indicated that they were deadlocked, then the second time they were brought to the courtroom it was clear that the vote was ten to two. Two jurors did not agree that the verdict was their decision.

Respectfully, the trial court did not announce the proper instruction as outlined in *Edlin v. State*, 523 So.2d 42 (Miss. 1988) and *Sharplin v. State*, 330 So.2d 591 (Miss. 1976).

Failing to instruct the jury properly not once but twice was error that prejudiced Mr. Powell and requires this Court to reverse and remand this case for a new trial.

II. The Trial Court Erred By Denying the Defendant's Motion for a Mistrial After The Jury Returned For The Second Time With the Jurors Spilt Ten to Two.

The transcript quoted above shows that the trial court erred by denying the Appellant's Motion For A Mistrial. At no time after the jury came back the second time, did the trial court ask if "further deliberations would be helpful." Instead, the trial court unilaterally sent the jury back. There was no ambiguity involved once the jurors were polled. Indeed, the court, the prosecution and the defense all knew that the vote was ten to two.

"When a verdict is rendered into open court in due form, responsive to the issues, and signed by the jury, the defendant's right to acquittal becomes complete. Of course, the court may poll the jury by asking [if] it is agreed in its verdict, but the court has no power to require a jury to acquiesce in an agreement that deprives a citizen of his life or liberty." Scott v. Taylor, 544 So.2d 1387, 1388 (Miss. 1989) quoting State v. Chambliss, 107 So. 200 (1926) (emphasis supplied).

"The general rule is that the court may require the jury to clear up an indefinite or ambiguous verdict and, "[i]ndeed it is the duty of the court to direct the jury to reconsider their verdict when satisfied that there is a palpable mistake." Anderson v. State, 95 So.2d 465, 467 (Miss. 1957) (emphasis supplied).

The problem is, there is nothing ambiguous about a juror responding "No judge, that's not my verdict." This jury was sent back to continue discussing this case three times. How many times does the trial court get to continue to send the jury back? Especially after being notified that it was deadlocked and then after getting a verdict where upon polling two jurors announce that their respective votes were not consistent with the verdict on the piece of paper handed to the trial court and read into the record by the Circuit Clerk. The following chronology of what occurred must be treated with great attention:

- 1) The jury sent a note to the trial court indicating that it could not reach a verdict.
- 2) The trial court brought the jury in and asked each of them individually if additional time to deliberate would be helpful.
- 3) Nine jurors indicated additional time would help. Three jurors said additional time would not help.
- 4) The trial court did not give the Sharplin instruction.
- 5) The jury sent out another note saying that it had reached a verdict.

- 6) The trial judge asked the foreman if the jury reached a verdict.
- 7) Juror Johnson reported "yes sir."
- 8) Judge Baker asked Juror Johnson to hand the verdict to the Circuit Clerk, Joe Reid.
- 9) Judge Baker asked Mr. Reid to read the verdict in open court.
- 10) Mr. Reid read the verdict, which indicated that the jury found both defendants guilty of Counts I and II of the indictment.
- 11) Judge Baker then asked if counsel had any requests.
- 12) Ms. Kelly asked that the jury be polled.
- 13) Upon polling, Juror Shalanda Harris and Juror Bobo indicated that they did not agree with the verdict.
- 14) Judge Baker sent the jury back a third time to continue deliberation without giving the *Sharplin* instruction or any other instructions.

"If a juror dissents in a criminal case or in a civil case if less than the required number cannot agree the court may: 1) return the jury for further deliberations or 2) declare a mistrial. No motion to poll the jury shall be entertained after the verdict is ordered to be filed and entered of record or the jury is discharged." U.R.C.C. 3.10 (emphasis supplied). In this case the trial court abused its discretion by not granting a mistrial.

U.R.C.C.C. 3.12 reads:

Upon motion of any party, the court may declare a mistrial if there occurs during the trial, either inside or outside the courtroom, misconduct by the party, the party's attorneys, or someone acting at the behest of the party or the party's attorney, resulting in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the movant's case.

Upon motion of a party or its own motion, the court may declare a mistrial if:

- 1. The trial cannot proceed in conformity with law; or
- 2. It appears there is no reasonable probability of the jury's agreement upon a verdict.

(emphasis supplied).

Upon the jury announcing that it was deadlocked the first time when it returned to the courtroom and then again after announcing that it was still split ten to two, the proper ruling would be to grant the Defendant's motion for mistrial. The primary reason being that there was no reasonable probability of the jury agreeing upon a verdict without suggestive behavior by the trial court.

The trial court erred by not granting the motion for a mistrial and the Appellant was irreparably prejudiced by the failure to grant the mistrial. As such, this case should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

III. Conclusion

The Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse and remand this case for a new trial in light of the individual and/or cumulative errors herein.