IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEPHEN POWELL

APPELLANT

VS.

· · · ·

NO. 2009-KA-1414-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Panola County indicted defendant for the crimes of Conspiracy to Commit Sexual Battery and Sexual Battery in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* §§ 97-7-1 & 97-3-95(c). (Indictment c.p.5-6). After a trial by jury, the Honorable Andrew C. Baker presiding, the jury found defendant guilty of both charges. (Jury Verdict, c.p.31-32). Subsequently, defendant was sentenced to 5 years on the Conspiracy conviction, concurrent to 20 years sentence (12 suspended with 8 to serve) in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Additionally defendant is to pay all costs of court and assessments. (Sentencing order, c.p. 35-37).

After denial of post-trial motions this instant appeal was timely noticed. (C.p.46).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

.

.

Defendant with knowledge, permission and the help of the mother molested a little girl who was nine at the time of trial and about seven years of age at the time of the molestation. Defendant digitally penetrated the child's vagina, and ejaculated on her leg.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I.</u>

THE GIVING OF A *SHARPLIN* INSTRUCTION IS DISCRETIONARY WITH THE TRIAL COURT.

The giving of a Sharplin instruction when a jury cannot reach a verdict is

discretionary with the trial court, not mandatory.

. .

<u>ISSUE II</u>.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER LESS THAN FOUR HOURS OF JURY DELIBERATION.

The jury had deliberated, in total over two days, about 3 hours and 15 minutes.

- -

Considering the nature of the case with two defendant with two counts each, denying

the motion for mistrial was not an abuse of discretion.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

ISSUE I.

THE GIVING OF A *SHARPLIN* INSTRUCTION IS DISCRETIONARY WITH THE TRIAL COURT.

In this initial allegation of trial court error defendant seeks to have his conviction reversed and remanded for a new trial.

The claimed error is that after reading the verdict and upon the polling jurors as to whether this was their unanimous decision two jurors said the decision was not theirs. The trial court opined there was some confusion as to whether the verdict was unanimous. The trial judge sent them back to the jury room to make further consideration as to whether the verdict was, in fact, unanimous. Tr. 370-374.

Upon being sent back to clarify their verdicts the trial court to the opportunity to explain on the record his reasons and rationale for his actions. Tr. 379-380. The judge also noted that total time of jury deliberation, over two days, was 3 hours 15 minutes. Tr. 380.

In a factually similar situation the reviewing courts of Mississippi have held:

¶ 39. McDonald argues the trial court erred when it required the jury to keep deliberating without giving a *Sharplin* instruction to the jury. When the jury returned from deliberating, the verdict had been reached but was not in proper form. The judge told the jury to return to the jury room and amend the verdict so it would comply with the jury instructions.

4

 \P 40. Approximately six minutes later, the jury returned and presented the judge with a verdict. While the judge was polling the jury, one juror indicated it was not his verdict and the judge instructed the jury to return to the jury room to continue the deliberations. After deliberating thirty minutes, the jury returned a unanimous verdict of guilty.

¶ 41. "It is within the sound discretion of the trial judge as to how long he will keep the jury in deliberation, and this discretion will not be reviewed on appeal unless there has been a clear abuse of discretion." Dixon v. State, 306 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss.1975) (quoting Gordon v. State, 149 So.2d 475, 477 (Miss.1963)). If a trial judge believes there is a possibility that a jury might reach a verdict, he may return the jury for further deliberations by simply instructing the jury to continue its deliberations or he may give the *Sharplin* instruction. *Brantley v. State*, 610 So.2d 1139, 1142 (Miss.1992).

McDonald v. State, 881 So.2d 895 (Miss.App. 2004).

It is the position of the State the trial judge had the discretion to return the jury

to continue deliberations or to give a Sharplin instruction.

 \P 24. Since there is no "bright line rule" as to when a trial judge should grant a continuance or recess, our analysis necessarily then focuses upon the unique facts of each case. Hooker v. State, 716 So.2d 1104, 1113(\P 36) (Miss.1998).

Jones v. State, 993 So.2d 386 (Miss.App. 2008).

Looking to the facts of the case at trial, the fact was noted the jury was

deliberating with facts and law as to multiple charges for two defendants. The trial

court further noted the rather limited of time the jury had deliberated over two days.

Under those facts the actions of the trial court were reasonable.

When the jury did return the court meticulously polled each juror as to each

charge for each defendant to make sure there was no confusion. Such is the preferred manner of handling such cases. Failure to follow the procedure used by the trial court would have been reversible error. *Beyersdoffer v. State*, 520 So.2d 1364, 1366 (Miss. 1988).

Accordingly, there being no abuse of discretion no relief should be granted on this allegation of trial court error.

ISSUE II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER LESS THAN FOUR HOURS OF JURY DELIBERATION.

To reiterate, with a slightly different focus, the jury deliberated then was sent home, with instructions, for the night. Tr. 370. Upon returning the next day and deliberating briefly, a note was sent out indicating they could not agree. Inquiry was made of each juror whether with additional time they might reach a unanimous decision. The trial court noted that nine indicated more time would be helpful, three did not think more time would be helpful. Tr.374.

Shortly thereafter, the jury sent out a note indicating they had reached a verdict. Tr. 374. The verdict was read in court. Tr. 375. The jury was polled and when asked "does that represent your decision as to each count and each of the parties?" – two jurors indicted – no. Tr. 375-376. The trial judge, Andrew C. Baker, sent the jury back with these instructions:

All right. Ladies and gentlemen, what I have here, I want to ask the jury to go back into the jury room. I'm getting a misread here. When you tell me we are ready to report, that indicates to me that is a unanimous decision; but as I poll the jury individually, it seems to be a ten-to-two decision. I'm not suggesting anyone change their mind or anything, but I just want you to go back and reconvene and I have got to know whether it's a split decision or whether it's a unanimous decision. I just want you all to go back there and huddle up and send me another note when you are ready to come back out, and I'll do the same thing again and see if the results are the same.

Tr. 377.

Out of the presence of the jury defense counsel requested a mistrial. Tr. 378

The trial court explained his rationale for his actions, essentially denying the motion

for mistrial. Tr. 379.

¶ 24. This Court has long recognized that "whether to grant a motion for mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court." Carpenter v. State, 910 So.2d 528, 533 (¶ 14) (Miss.2005) (quoting Pulphus v. State, 782 So.2d 1220, 1223 (¶ 10) (Miss.2001)). Additionally, this Court will review a trial court's denial of a mistrial under an abuse of discretion standard. Id. "The trial court must declare a mistrial when there is an error in the proceedings resulting in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the defendant's case; however, the trial judge is permitted considerable discretion in determining whether a mistrial is warranted since the judge is best positioned for measuring the prejudicial effect." *863 Sipp v. State, 936 So.2d 326, 331 (¶ 7) (Miss.2006) (citing Tate v. State, 912 So.2d 919, 932 (¶ 41) (Miss.2005)). Further, "[i]t is within the sound discretion of the trial judge as to how long he will keep the jury in deliberation, and this discretion will not be reviewed [sic] on appeal unless there has been a clear abuse of discretion." Hardiman v. State, 776 So.2d 723, 728 (¶24) (Miss.Ct.App.2000) (quoting Dixon v. State, 306 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss.1975)).

Brown v. State, 999 So.2d 853 (Miss.App. 2008).

•

•

In *Brown*, the jury had deliberated over nine hours when the trial court denied a motion of mistrial. Sub judice the jury deliberated about 3 hours and fifteen minutes over two days. Tr.380. It is the position of the State the trial court carefully considered the facts of the situation, the total time the jury had deliberated and the complexity of the case. (Two defendants with two charges each). Such actions as noted in the record show a reasonable decision by the trial court.

Therefore, no relief should be granted based upon this claim of trial court error.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on

appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the jury verdicts and sentences of the trial court.